FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/21/2023 12:46 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101924-6 Court of Appeals, Div. II No. 56174-3-II

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### TONY VARNEY and GERALYN VARNEY

Petitioners,

V.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondents.

4-25-23: Treated as a petition for review. See Clerk's 4-25-23 letter. Supreme Court Clerk's Office

### PETITIONERS' MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 27976 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Respondent

Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Olympia, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

##

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners are Tony and Geralyn Varney.

#### II. DECISION BELOW

This motion seeks Supreme Court review of the Court of Appeals February 14, 2023 opinion in case No. 56174-3-II.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals commit an obvious error which would render further proceedings useless, or probable error that substantially alter the status quo or substantially limits the Varney's freedom to act, or so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, or so far sanctioned such a departure by a court, as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction by the Supreme Court?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE

The City of Tacoma ("City"), a self-insurer, committed abuse of process and industrial insurance act bad faith, as a continuous tort, for years – ignoring their own IME doctors, frivolously appealing when no right of appeal existed, and intentionally misrepresenting clear facts from the insured's

(Varney)'s jury trial. CP 56-70, CP 452-459, and Appendix A - Plaintiff's Brief to Discovery Master filed on 4/23/21.

Now, the City hides the evidence of its abuse of process and insurance bad faith conduct behind claims of attorney-client and work product privilege to prevent Varney from proving this case.

The City produced over 80 pages of privilege **logs**. *CP* 485-684, *Appendix B*. Privilege is not available when perpetrating a fraudulent scheme – such as tortious IIA claimshandling.

# A. Mr. Varney's RCW 51.32.185 industrial insurance claim.

Tony Varney filed for industrial insurance benefits on July 30, 2009 for his July 21, 2009 stroke caused by occupational reactive hypertension [a heart problem], from smoke, fumes and toxic substances, and strenuous physical activity. *CP 76-82*. His employer was the City.

# B. Relevant Timeline of the City's tortious industrial insurance claims handling.

February 3, 2010: Varney's claim was allowed. CP

**February 10, 2010:** City filed a Protest. *CP 86*.

March 1, 2010: City's third party administrator ("TPA") had Mr. Varney undergo an independent medical examination by Drs. Stump and Thompson. *CP 88-106*. The "DIAGNOSIS" section in the IME report states: "Left hemiparesis due to right basal ganglia hemorrhage associated with exacerbated hypertension, secondary to occupational stress." [Bold added] *Id.*.

Drs. Stump and Thompson also opined: (1) Mr. Varney suffered a left hemiparesis due to right basal ganglia hemorrhage associated with exacerbated hypertension, "secondary to occupational stress", (2) Mr. Varney's stroke developed as a result of his elevated blood pressure (i.e. hypertension), and (3) **stresses of employment** were a cause of Mr. Varney's current condition. *Id.* That IME report should have resulted in the City dismissing its appeal.

March 19, 2010: Britta Holm, the account executive for the City's TPA, sent a letter to the Department intentionally

omitting that the City's its IME doctors opined that Mr. Varney's condition was related to his occupation. *Id*.

**April 29, 2010:** The Department affirmed its February 3, 2010 allowance order. *CP 108-109*.

June 24, 2010: The City appealed the Department's allowance order. *CP 111-114*.

July 1, 2010: City then subjected Mr. Varney to another IME - this time with Dr. Gary Schuster on July 1, 2010. *CP* 116-130. Dr. Schuster's report related Mr. Varney's stroke to his occupation. *Id.* Now, its three IME doctors related Mr. Varney's condition to his occupation.

**September 15, 2010:** The April 29, 2010 allowance order was affirmed. That affirmed the February 3, 2010 claim allowance order. *CP 132-133*.

October 4, 2010: The City appealed the September 15, 2010 allowance order and started four more years of litigation. *CP 135-139*.

March, 2014: Mr. Varney's industrial insurance claim was tried to a twelve-person jury in the Pierce County Superior

Court. The jury trial was about the cause of Mr. Varney's hemorrhagic stroke and whether his stroke was a "heart problem." This was objectively clear from the Board's decision on appeal, the trial testimony, the verdict form's interrogatory, the verdict and judgment. See e.g. Board decision CP 251-260, Dr. Utt testimony pg. 9, 17-18, Dr. Schuster testimony pgs 13-14, 16, 18, 29, Dr. Judish testimony pgs 7,12, 24, Dr. Price testimony pgs 35-36, Verdict form CP 178-179, Judgement on verdict CP 181-183

The question on the verdict form answered by the jury read, "Was the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals correct when it decided that on July 21, 2009, or July 22, 2009, Mr. Varney did not develop any heart problem." *CP 178-179*.

**March 26, 2014:** The jury returned an 11-1 verdict in favor of Varney and determined that Mr. Varney did develop a heart problem on July 21 or 22, 2009. *Id*.

May 23, 2014: The Judgment on the jury verdict was entered and clearly stated: "the claim is remanded to the Department of Labor & Industries with instructions to issue an

order that directs the self-insured-employer, City of Tacoma, to allow claim SE-05746 for a heart problem pursuant to RCW 51.32.185." [Bold added]. *CP 181-183*. The City did not appeal. By not appealing, the City accepted the jury's verdict and the Court's Judgment, which became final.

The City went on with its frivolous, bad faith abuse of process conduct.

June 3, 2014: The Department issued a ministerial order to comply with the Superior Court's May 23, 2014 judgment. The ministerial order literally states, "Action is taken in accordance with the Pierce County Superior Court order dated 5/23/2014 under cause number 12-2-08221-4." [Bold added]. *CP* 185-186. This ministerial order indicated that Mr. Varney's claim, "is allowed for a heart problem pursuant to RCW 51.32.185." Id.

A ministerial order – i.e. an order implementing a prior order of the Superior Court – cannot be appealed. There is **no** lawful process for appealing a ministerial order.

August 15, 2014: The City's attorney sent a letter to the

Department attempting to re-litigate the issue already decided by the jury. *CP 386-446*. Even the Board's order – which was on appeal to the Superior Court – states, "Mr. Varney alleged that his hemorrhagic stroke was a cardiovascular incident - a heart problem." *CP 140-157*. The trial testimony revolved around the cause of his hemorrhagic stroke and whether it was a heart problem. *CP 178-179*.

There was **no lawful process** for re-litigating a final verdict and judgment – except by successful appeal to a higher court.

In the letter the City's attorney states, "while Mr. Meyers [Varneys' counsel] would like to think that a brain injury and a heart condition are the same thing and therefore benefits should be paid, it is yet to be determined by an individual with the appropriate credentials that Mr. Meyers' assertion is true." *CP* 386-446. That was a bad faith misrepresentation. The jury heard the testimony of numerous medical experts, and based on the evidence presented, the jury decided the stroke was an occupational heart problem.

The City's attorney stated that the City, "is proceeding to have the claimant's heart condition evaluated and further action can be taken after that has occurred." *Id.* There was **no lawful process** to have Mr. Varney submit to a post-judgment IME when, based on the jury's verdict, the claim was allowed, judgment was entered and not appealed. The City in bad faith and continuing abuse of process ignored the law again.

**September 26, 2014:** The Department issued **another ministerial order** – this time clarifying for the City what everyone already knew, but what the City in an abuse of process and bad faith refused to accept – that the hemorrhagic stroke resulting from the cardiovascular condition was allowed. *CP* 209-210.

September 26, 2014: (unlawful protest letter incorrectly dated July 26, 2014): The City protested the Department's September 26, 2014 ministerial order – another non-appealable order. *CP 212-214*. There was **no lawful process** for the City to re-litigate this issue, as it was decided by the jury and reduced to a final judgment.

In this abuse of process and bad faith and unlawful protest letter, the City argued that the September 26, 2014 order was "at best, premature." *Id.* The City claimed that they "are not aware of any medical opinion that establishes a causal relationship between the "heart problem" allowed by the Superior Court Judgment and the hemorrhagic stroke." *Id.* This misrepresentation continued the abuse of process and bad faith.

The City then disclosed that it was "in the process of obtaining medical information to address the issue of causal relationship." *Id.* Six months after the verdict and judgment, the City was still abusing process in a bad faith attempt to relitigate the case it did not appeal.

The City also indicated that it had scheduled Mr. Varney to undergo an IME on September 29, 2014, and stated that, "it is simply unknown what the opinion of that expert might be." *Id.* There was **no lawful process** to make Mr. Varney submit to that IME. The City chose not to appeal, but then intentionally chose to engage in continued abusive, bad faith fabricated litigation processes.

The City wanted to review and all documentation or other information the Department relied upon in making its decision contained in the September 26, 2014 **ministerial order** and obtain an "evaluation from the cardiologist to assess whether the order is correct or not." *CP 212-214*. This bad faith and unlawful "protest" resulted in delay andmeritless litigation.

**December 3, 2014:** Varneys filed a motion for summary judgment at the Board, because judicial estoppel, res judicata and collateral estoppel applied to the City's conduct. *CP 216-239*.

May 27, 2015: Administrative Law Judge Jinhong's order was essentially an admonishment of the City:

Despite its displeasure with the Pierce County Superior Court's verdict, the City of Tacoma did not take further appeal of this matter with the Court of Appeals. . .

Based on the record established before the Board in 2010, the superior court appeal, and this round of appeals, it's clear that the doctrine of res judicata applies and operates as a complete bar to relitigation of claims that were in fact raised and those that could have been raised in the prior litigation, but were not. Here, the parties are the same, as is the subject matter.

If the City of Tacoma wished to further dispute the jury's findings, it could have done so by filing and appeal with Division II of the Washington State Court of Appeals. Alas, it did not. . . .

[Bold added]. CP 241-249.

July 14, 2015: The City continued its abusive pattern of bad faith and frivolous appeals, and appealed ALJ Jinhong's order to the Board.

August 10, 2015: The City's TPA Britta Holm signed a Declaration under penalty of perjury, stating part: "That the claim for an occupationally related 'heart problem' has not been made during the initial claim filing and adjudication." *CP 386-446, CP 283-288.* 

This Declaration selectively (intentionally) omitted that the diagnosis section of the Department's "Physician's Initial Report" form on this claim notes that Mr. Varney's stroke was a "Hypertensive emergency". *CP 76-82*.

**November 9, 2015:** The Board agreed with the jury, the judgment and ALJ Jinhong, and issued its order, which stated in part, "We believe that this [jury] instruction **makes clear** that the jury was including Mr. Varney's stroke in its verdict. Pursuant

to this instruction, the heart problem and stroke were to be considered in concert." [Bold added]. *CP 251-260*. The Board also stated, "We conclude that **the doctrine of res judicata bars the re-litigation** of whether Mr. Varney's stroke is covered by the Industrial Insurance Act and we affirm the Department order on appeal." [Bold added]. id.

### C. The present action.

Varneys initiated the present action against the City for ongoing abuse of process, tortious conduct (including bad faith negligent claims handling, negligent and/or intentional infliction of emotional distress, and other harms), outrage, and hostile and abusive and discriminatory acts. *CP 32-28*.

Varneys sent the City Interrogatories and Requests for Production. The City redacted a voluminous amount of evidence during the time of its bad faith and tortious claims handling and litigation relating to Varney's industrial insurance claim. *See Appendix B - privilege logs* 

The City withheld this evidence under a claim of attorneyclient and/or work product privilege. The City has produced 80 pages of three separate privilege logs. Appendix B - privilege logs.

Ms. Holm was deposed by Varney's counsel and was asked if she intentionally omitted material information from her August 10, 2015 Declaration. "Did you leave out the part about was filed for blood pressure causing the stroke as a result of claimant's job with the City of Tacoma intentionally?" *CP 283-288*.

The City's attorney objected and coached Ms. Holm by stating, "There's no indication that she actually wrote this and made the decision about what to include." *Id.* This was an improper coaching of the witness by the City's attorney; a clear attempt to urge the witness to parrot, as testimony, counsel's assertion. It also raises the question of who, on behalf of the City, made the decision about what Ms. Holm would testify by sworn Declaration.

Ms. Holm was also asked if she was aware that hypertension is a heart problem. *CP 283-288*.

Before Ms. Holm gave a responsive answer, the City's

attorney interjected, "Then I would ask that we go off the record and that the host of the meeting move us into a breakout room so that we can talk it through to determine whether or not there is a —". *Id*.

The City's attorney stated that, "It might be [an attorney-client privilege] if in fact her [the witness's] understanding came from a conversation with counsel." *Id.* This was another improper coaching of the witness by the City's attorney, and it also evidences that during Varney's underlying industrial insurance claim, the City's attorney was manipulating or otherwise orchestrating (behind the scenes) the City's TPA as to what the TPA's understanding of a medical condition in Varneys' claim should be.

The City's attorney also instructed Ms. Holm to not answer any questions regarding Exhibit 3 to the deposition of Angela Hardy, and asserted attorney-client privilege and attorney work-product privilege for communications with and from its TPA. *CP 1260-1426*.

The City, both in its redaction of material documentary

evidence and at depositions, has attempted to use attorney-client and/or work product privilege as a shield to bury the evidence of its tortious claims handling, bad faith and abuse of process.

Varneys filed a motion, requesting the trial court to strike the City's claims of attorney-client and work product privilege for all documents created relating to Varney's L&I claim No. SE05746. *CP 56-70 and CP 452-459*, *479*.

1. The trial court appointed a Discovery Master to (1) review the record and identify any portions of the communications and documents (that were redacted or withheld by the City under a claim of attorney-client and/or work product privilege as identified on the City's privilege logs) which contain information "relevant to or that could lead to the discovery of admissible evidence in support of' Varneys' "tortious Abuse of Process claims"; and (2) inform the trial court of his assessment as to whether the claimed privileges apply to the portions of the communications and documents that were redacted or withheld by the City. *CP 728-732*.

The Discovery Master was retired judge Richard

McDermott, who served as a King County Superior Court judge from 2000 to 2017, after a lengthy legal career as an attorney.

- 2. The trial court undertook in camera review, as did the Discovery Master. 7.16.21 VRP p.8. The Discovery Master reviewed all documents and communications that were identified on the City's privilege logs, various pleadings orders and depositions, the Complaint and Answer, and the City's answers and responses to the Varney's discovery requests.
- 3. The Discovery Master reviewed each document and gave his assessment to the trial court on privilege in a five page letter to the trial court. 10.21VRP p. 5. 6.10.21 VRP p. 3. He also provided the trial court with a chart, an annotated privilege log, reflecting his assessment of privilege. 6.10.21 VRP p. 5-6. The trial court even stated, "I've not had a Special Master before that wrote such a detailed but specific letter directly to the Court." 6.10.21VRP p. 3-4.
- 4. The trial held a follow-up telephone conference with the Discovery Master. 7.16.21 VRP p. 4.

The trial court pointed out that the Discovery Master, "had

the benefit of the briefs of the parties, and the pleadings, and his experience as a sitting judge for 17 years, and the rules of evidence, and statutory guidance." 7.16.21 VRP p. 5.

- 5. The trial court held multiple oral arguments and after considering the Discovery Master's hours of review of thousands of documents, the trial court issued a draft order 7.16.21 VRP p. 13 requiring the City to produce to Varneys an unredacted copy of:
- 1. The documents marked as "NO" by the Special Discovery Master (meaning not privileged);
- 2. Documents bates stamped as TH 011127, 011129, 011166;
- 3. Documents bates stamped as VARNEY-AH 000260-261 (with partial redactions retained as directed by court), VARNEY-AH 001372 (except for second full paragraph which remain redacted), VARNEY EV 005720, and VARNEY EV 005727. *id*.

However, after another oral argument, the trial court revised its draft order and entered an order that:

1. Required the City to produce to the Varneys' counsel an unredacted copy of (a) the documents marked as "NO" by the Special Discovery Master and (b) documents bates stamped as TH 011127, 011129, 011166, (c) documents

bates stamped as VARNEY-AH 000260-261 (with partial redactions retained as directed by court), and VARNEY-AH 001372 (except for second full paragraph which remain redacted);

- 2. Allowed the City to keep VARNEY EV 005720 and VARNEY EV 005727 redacted; and
- 3. Stayed the City's obligation to produce the unredacted documents, to give the City another opportunity to submit briefing (i.e. exceptions to the Court's order) and another opportunity for oral argument. *CP 1431-1523*.

On August 4, 2021, the City filed its exceptions to the trial court's order on report of special master. *CP 871-883*. The City raised new arguments, this time pertaining to "internal communications". *Id.* Varneys filed their response, and the City replied. *CP 884-901 and CP 902-908*.

On August 13, 2021, the trial court held another oral argument session where the City's attorney admitted that Ms. Hardy is a City employee and not an attorney and Ms. Holm is an employee of Eberle Vivian, who was administering the claim in the underlying L&I matter. 8.13.21 VRP p.6.

On August 16, 2021 the trial court issued an amended order. *CP 1524-1529*. This order allowed the City to retain

several redactions of evidence that were marked by the Discovery Master as "No" (meaning not privileged). *id*.

The trial court also "declined to apply a blanket waiver of attorney-client/work product privilege under a fraud exception". *id.* This allowed the City to continue to shield evidence from Varneys in an ongoing abuse of process and bad faith.

The trial court's order did require that the City produce unredacted copies of certain documents. *CP 1524-1529*. The trial court specifically identified the bases for her ordering production without redaction. *CP 1524-1529*.

The City filed a Motion to Certify Issues for Discretionary Review, and Varney's filed their Motion for Certification. *CP* 915-921 and *CP* 922-927 respectively. *CP* 931-937 and *CP* 941-944. On August 27, 2021, the trial court again heard oral argument and issued an Order Granting Motions to Certify Issues. *CP* 947-952.

## The Appellate Court.

Knowing what the actual issues were that needed appellate

review (based on the parties' briefing and oral argument) and knowing that its reading of the fourth certified issue did not properly address those issues, the Appellate Court did not remedy that substantial problem and failed the parties and this case. The Appellate Court has authority to perform all acts necessary or appropriate to secure the fair and orderly review of a case. *See RAP 7.3*.

Here, the Appellate Court "declined to answer" the first three certified issues. As to the fourth certified issue, the Appellate Court (1) criticized it as "poorly worded" and "unclear", (2) read it as having a literal meaning, but then analyzed it as if it had a different meaning, (3) refused to consider industrial insurance act bad faith in the context of the privilege issues here even though it knew that was an issue that needed review, and (4) failed to take necessary and appropriate action to secure the fair review of the actual issues in this case.

The Appellate Court also committed probable and obvious error by ignoring critical statutes, re-framing the issue, and

mischaracterizing Varney's position.

#### V. ARGUMENT

The Appellate Court failed to address whether the trial court erred by determining that insurance bad faith does not apply. Varney's motion for discretionary review clearly laid out that one of the Superior Court's decisions for which Varneys sought review was, "the Court's determination (as evidenced by her oral ruling on 8/13/21) that insurance bad faith does not apply to this case."

The Appellate Court then stated in its opinion, in a footnote, that, "Due to the language of the certified question, the ruling indicated that this court would **only consider abuse of process** in the context of the privilege issues here." [Bold added].

This error substantially alters the status quo because by not addressing the issue of bad faith here, the Appellate Court has insulated the self-insured employer from facing Varney's cause of action for the SIE's bad faith handling of Varney's industrial insurance act claim.

Varney had no right to use his private health insurance for his occupational disease, because he was required by law to use industrial insurance. The decision to immunize the self-insured employer from a bad faith claims-handling cause of action simply because his disease was "occupational" is a decision that warrants interlocutory review under RAP 13.5(b)(1) through (4). It creates an immediate bar on Varneys to uncover the exact type of discovery that is used to prove such claims (i.e. the claims file).

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