FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/19/2023 3:59 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101924-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TONY VARNEY, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA

Respondents.

CITY OF TACOMA'S ANSWER TO PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM C. FOSBRE, City Attorney WSB# 27825 Attorney for Respondents Tacoma City Attorney's Office 747 Market Street, Suite 1120 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 591-5885

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

IV. Argument

A. <u>Plaintiffs have offered no argument on the criteria</u> for review under RAP 13.4(b), and on that basis alone, this petition for review should be denied.

In support of their petition for review, Plaintiffs argue that this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals committed both "obvious" and "probable" error that substantially alters the status quo and departs from the usual and accepted course of judicial proceedings. Petition for Review, p. 2; p. 21. Although Plaintiffs do not expressly cite to RAP 2.3(b), there is no question that their petition for review is based on the considerations applicable to a petition for discretionary review to an intermediary appellate court. RAP 2.3(b)(1-4). RAP 2.3(b) does not pertain to petitions for review in this Court, nor does it contain the criteria upon which this Court's decision to grant or deny review must be based.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing review by this Court and the rule makes clear that review will be accepted *only* if one of the specified criteria is established. In the instant case, Plaintiffs did not cite to RAP 13.4(b), nor did they present any reasoned argument under any of the four criteria governing review. On this basis alone, Plaintiff's petition fails to establish a basis on which this Court can grant review. <u>See</u> RAP 13.4(c)(7)(requiring a petition to contain "[a] direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section (b), with argument."). Therefore, the instant petition must be denied.

B. <u>The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict</u> with decisional law, nor does it raise significant issues of law that warrant this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b).

Even if this Court were to ignore Plaintiffs' failure to establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b), the Court of Appeals decision in this case does not implicate any of the criteria upon which review can be granted.

RAP 13.4(b) provides for review when a Court of Appeals opinion is in conflict with an opinion from this Court or a published opinion from another intermediate appellate court, when there is a significant constitutional question or when there is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. As outlined below, none of these criteria are present in the instant case and therefore, Plaintiffs' petition for review must be denied.

In their petition for review, Plaintiffs complain that the Court of Appeals limited its review to whether the <u>Cedell</u> fraud exception could apply to Plaintiffs' abuse of process claim. Petition for Review, p. 21-23 (citing <u>Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co.</u> <u>of Washington</u>, 176, Wn.2d 686, 295 P.3e 239 (2013)). Plaintiffs argue that the Court of Appeals needed, but failed, to address whether "insurance bad faith" applied to the Varney's Industrial Insurance Act (IIA) claim. <u>Id</u>. Contrary to Plaintiffs' position, the Court of Appeals did address this issue and Division II's opinion is consistent with binding precedence.

In its opinion, Division II limited its review to the fourth question certified by the superior court: "Whether a partial or blanket waiver of the attorney[-]client/work product privilege applies under the fraud exception in the context of plaintiff's tortious abuse of process allegations in this case." <u>Varney v. City of Tacoma</u>, No. 56174-3-II (Consolidated with 565187-5-II), 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 303, at *8-12, 2023 WL 1990553 (Wash. Ct. App., February 14, 2023). Plaintiffs argue that the Court of Appeals "re-framed the certified issue" by limiting its analysis to the Plaintiffs' abuse of process claim, *instead of analyzing the broader issue of whether a bad faith claim could*

arise in the context if an IIA claim. Petition for Review, p. 20; p. 23-30. Plaintiff's argument is flawed on both counts.

To begin, the Court of Appeals did not "re-frame the certified issue." Rather, the Court of Appeals addressed the question as certified by the superior court, which was based on the Varneys' abuse of process claim. <u>See CP 947-952</u> (especially CP 950, setting forth the fourth certified issued for review). The issue of a "bad faith" claim was raised by the Varneys while seeking discretionary review in Division II. <u>Varney</u>, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS at *9, n.4. <u>See also CP 35-37</u>. Before granting review, the Commissioner sought supplemental briefing from the parties on whether the Varneys had pled any bad faith insurance-related causes of action, such as those listed in <u>Cedell⁶</u>.

⁶ A review of Plaintiffs' complaint reveals that the words "bad faith" do not appear anywhere in the complaint. <u>See</u> CP 32-38. Instead, in Cause of Action C, Plaintiffs asserted a claim for "negligent claims handling." CP 36. Plaintiffs argued that negligent claims handling was the equivalent of bad faith, an argument that is foreclosed by Washington law.

Comm'r's Ruling (Dec. 16, 2021) at 8, n.1. Ultimately, the Commissioner concluded that *because the questions sought to be certified by both parties* and *because the questions/issues actually certified by the superior court all reference "abuse of process,"* the Court of Appeals' review would only address the privilege waiver issue in the context of the abuse of process claim. <u>Id</u>.

Division II did note, however, that the certified issue was not very clear and seemed to broadly ask whether the crime/fraud exception could apply to an abuse of process claim. <u>Varney</u>, 2023 Wash App. LEXIS at *10-11. The court found clarification in the Commissioner's order granting review. <u>Id</u>. In the order granting review, the Commissioner framed the issue by noting that *even*

In Washington, claims of negligence and bad faith are different claims, based on different legal theories, with different elements. <u>First State Ins. v. Kemper Nat'l Ins.</u>,94 Wn. App. 602, 612-13, 971 P.2d 953(1999)("Where courts have adopted standards of good/bad faith and ordinary care, as we have in Washington, the plaintiff is entitled to a jury verdict on theories of either negligence or bad faith, independent of each other because a party may fail to use ordinary care yet still not act in bad faith.").

if the <u>Cedell</u> waiver applied outside of a first-party insurance context, it had never been applied to an abuse of process claim. <u>Varney</u>, at *11 (emphasis added). Thus, based on the Commissioner's language, Division II construed the primary issue to be whether the <u>Cedell</u> waiver did, in fact, apply outside of a first-party insurance context. A necessary corollary to this analysis was resolution of whether there was a first-party insurance relationship between the City and Varney in the context of his IIA claim. Based on this Court's controlling precedence, Division II correctly concluded that there was no such relationship.

In addressing the first part of the analysis - whether the Cedell waiver could apply outside of a first-party insurance context – Division II reviewed and relied upon this Court's analysis in <u>Cedell</u>. In <u>Cedell</u>, this Court explained that a firstparty bad faith claim "arises from the fact that the insurer has a quasi-fiduciary duty to act in good faith towards its insured." <u>Cedell</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 696. Thus, this Court reasoned that in the context of a first-party insurance bad faith claim, "the insured is entitled to access to the claims file," unless the insurer is able to show that the insurer was "not engaged in a quasi-fiduciary function." <u>Id</u>. at 700.

In the instant case and consistent with this Court's decisions, Division II found that the <u>Cedell</u> waiver does not apply outside of a quasi-fiduciary relationship. The City was not an insurer of the Plaintiff and had no quasi-fiduciary relationship. Division II's analysis was premised, in part, on the fact that there was no insurance contract between the City and Varney. While the Plaintiffs characterize the lack of an insurance contract as a "red herring" (Petition for Review, p. 24), Division II's consideration of the absence of a contract is consistent with Washington law:

The duty to act in good faith or liability for acting in bad faith generally refers to the same obligation. Indeed, we have used those terms interchangeably. However, regardless of whether a good faith duty in the realm of insurance is cast in the affirmative or the negative, *the source of the duty is the same. That source is the fiduciary* relationship existing between the insurer and insured. Such a relationship exists not only as a result of the contract between insurer and insured, but because of the high stakes involved for both parties to an insurance contract and the elevated level of trust underlying insureds' dependence on their insurers.

(emphasis added; internal citations omitted) <u>Tank v. State Farm</u> <u>Fire & Cas. Co.</u>, 105 Wn.2d 381, 385, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). <u>See</u> <u>also Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co.</u>, 150 Wn.2d 478, 485, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003)("As a substantive matter, *an insurer has a duty of good faith to all of its policyholders* and, to succeed on a bad faith claim, a policyholder must show *the insurer's breach of the insurance contract* was "unreasonable, frivolous, or unfounded." (emphasis added)).

Division II also based its holding on the fact that the relationship between Varney and the City in the context of his IIA claim was adversarial, not quasi-fiduciary. Plaintiffs claim that Division II was wrong to so conclude, and that the relationship was both "adversarial <u>and primarily</u> fiduciary." (emphasis in original) Petition for Review, p. 23. Plaintiffs do not explain this seemingly paradoxical statement, nor do they attempt to reconcile this assertion with this Court's analysis in <u>Cedell</u>⁷. Further, this statement is inconsistent with the industrial insurance scheme, as enacted. Under Title 51, the employer⁸ does not make eligibility or benefits determinations. Rather, Labor & Industries (L&I) is expressly vested with the power to determine whether a claim should be allowed and if so, the amount to be paid. RCW 51.04.020. <u>See also</u> Chapters 51.32

⁷ In <u>Cedell</u>, this Court was careful to explain that because an insurer has a fiduciary duty to put the insured's interests ahead of the insurer's, there is a presumption of no attorney-client privilege in the context of a bad faith claim. Cedell, 176 Wn.2d at 700. When, however, the insurer overcomes this presumption and shows that it was not engaged in a fiduciary function, such as when litigating UIM claims (an adversarial process), the insurer can assert the attorney-client privilege. <u>Id</u>. In such a case, the insured can still pierce the privilege if the insured can establish the civil fraud exception, because "[i]in the context of first party insurance, bad faith may often be tantamount to civil fraud." Id. at 697 n.4.

⁸ RCW 51.14.010 requires every employer to secure payment under Title 51, either by participating through the state fund, or by qualifying as a self-insurer. Qualification as a self-insured entity simply means establishing a sufficient financial ability to make all required payments under the title. RCW 51.14.020.

(Compensation), 51.36 (Medical Aid) and 51.52 (Appeals) RCW. As a self-insured entity, the City is required to submit a recommendation to L&I, and *L&I decides whether the claimant has a qualifying condition and whether benefits are to be paid.* WAC 296-15-420. If the City disagrees with L&I's decision, the City can appeal that decision to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. RCW 51.52.060 (2023). In light of this statutory scheme, there is no question that the relationship between the employer and the employee is adversarial in the context of an IIA claim.

Finally, Division II relied upon this Court's prior holdings "that the Department is not an insurer," "that self-insured employers are not insurers," and that "Washington's public system of workers' compensation is not the equivalent of insurance." <u>Varney</u>, at *12 (citing <u>Wash. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v.</u> <u>Dep't of Labor & Indus.</u>, 122 Wn.2d 527, 533, 859 P.2d 592 (1993); <u>Stamp v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.</u>, 122 Wn.2d 536, 542-44, 859 P.2d 597 (1993); <u>Durant v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 191 Wn.2d 1, 15, 419 P.3d 400 (2018)). Since the City is not an insurer and worker's compensation is not the equivalent of insurance, there is no way for the City to be a first-party insurer to Varney, and thus, no way to conclude that the City owed Varney an fiduciary duty. Absent that fiduciary duty and a first-party insurance relationship, there can be no legal basis for a bad faith claim. Thus, without a first-party insurance relationship and without the possibility of a bad faith claim, Division II's holding – that the <u>Cedell</u> waiver of privilege does not apply in the workers' compensation context and does not apply to Varney's abuse of process claim – is consistent with this Court's rulings.

Contrary to Plaintiffs' arguments in their petition for review, Division II did implicitly address the issue of whether a bad faith claim can arise in the context of an IIA claim and correctly concluded that it could not. This holding is consistent with this Court's decisions in <u>Cedell</u>, Wash. Ins. Guar. Ass'n and <u>Stamp</u>; thus, to the extent there was a significant public issue that required this Court's intervention, this Court has already done so. Further, Plaintiffs have not identified any published cases from other intermediate appellate courts that conflict with Division II's holding in this case, which is hardly surprising, as this Court's jurisprudence forecloses any such conflict. There is simply no basis upon which this Court can, or should, grant review.

V. Conclusion

As outlined herein, Division II's holding and underlying analysis is wholly consistent with this Court's prior rulings. Moreover, Plaintiffs have not identified any conflicting opinions from the other intermediate appellate courts, nor have Plaintiffs identified a constitutional issue or issue of substantial public importance that this Court has not already addressed. Consequently, there is no basis upon which this Court can grant review under RAP 13.4(b). The instant petition must be denied.

Pursuant to RAP 18.7(c)(11), the undersigned hereby certifies that this brief was prepared using Times New Roman

20

14-point typeface, and contains 3652 words, excluding those elements excluded by the rule from the word count. This certificate was prepared in reliance on the word-count function of the word processing system (Microsoft Word) used to prepared the document.